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Consolidated Financial Highlights

Billions of yen
Millions of 
U.S. dollars

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2014

Financial Performance

Net sales  66.4  120.4  155.3  148.6  160.7  1,562 

Cost of sales  55.2  80.9  106.0  104.4  107.5  1,045 

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses  38.1  39.2  42.6  40.0  43.9  427 

Operating income (loss)  (26.9)  0.3  6.8  4.1  9.4  91 

Income (loss) before income taxes and 
minority interests  (34.6)  1.2  6.7  5.6  11.4  111 

Net income (loss)  (34.7)  1.3  5.6  5.2  9.4  92 

Profitability Ratio

Return on investment (ROI) (%) *2  (21.4)  0.2  4.5  2.6  5.1 

Return on equity (ROE) (%) *3  (32.6)  1.4  6.0  5.3  7.4 

Return on total assets (ROA) (%) *4  (23.7)  0.8  3.1  2.8  4.4 

Financial Position

Total assets  144.2  172.0  185.4  186.7  241.7  2,349 

Shareholders’ equity *5  96.3  93.9  93.2  102.7  151.3  1,471 

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities  (16.0)  (10.2)  8.6  21.4  5.9  57 

Net cash used in investing activities  (12.9)  (14.1)  (22.1)  (10.1)  (17.5)  (170) 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
financing activities  21.5  24.1  10.9  (10.1)  23.9  232 

Free cash flow *6  (28.9)  (24.3)  (13.5)  11.3  (11.6)  (113) 

Number of Employees 3,816 4,107 4,045 4,117 4,159

*1    The accompanying U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from yen, solely for convenience, as a matter of arithmetic 

computation only, at ¥102.88 = U.S.$1.00, the exchange rate prevailing on 31st March, 2014.

*2   Return on investment (ROI) (%) = Operating income / (Average equity + Average interest-bearing debt) × 100

*3   Return on equity (ROE) (%) = Net income / Average equity × 100

*4   Return on total assets (ROA) (%) = Net income / Average total assets ×100

*5   Shareholders' equity = Net assets – Stock acquisition rights – Minority interests

*6   Free cash fl ow = Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities + Net cash used in investing activities

*1

01DMG MORI SEIKI  Annual Report 2014



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

66.4

38.1

28.3

120.4

75.9

44.5

155.3

100.2

55.1

148.6

97.8

50.7

160.7

107.6

53.2

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

–34.7

1.3

5.6 5.2

9.4

–52.2%

1.1% 3.6% 3.5%

5.9%

Net sales (billions of yen)

Years ended 31st March

Japan Overseas

Operating income (loss) (billions of yen)

Operating income ratio (%)

Years ended 31st March

Operating income ratio
Operating income

Net income (loss) (billions of yen)

Net income ratio (%)

Years ended 31st March

Net income ratio
Net income

–26.9

0.3

6.8
4.1

9.4

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

–40.6%

0.3% 4.4% 2.8%

5.8%

The following is an analysis of our financial situation, 

business results and cash flows during the fiscal year ended 

31st March, 2014.

Analysis of Financial Status

Assets

Current assets grew by 32.9% compared to the previous 

fiscal year to 99,353 million yen ($965,717 thousand). 

This was primarily due to an increase of 12,648 million yen 

in cash and cash deposits, an increase of 8,165 million yen 

in notes and accounts receivable, trade, and an increase of 

2,830 million yen in inventories.

Net property, plant and equipment increased by 9.9% to 

69,010 million yen ($670,782 thousand), primary due to an 

increase of 5,401 million yen in buildings and structures.

Total investments and other assets increased by 49.2% 

to 73,308 million yen ($712,558 thousand). This was primary 

due to a rise of 24,270 million yen in total investments in 

securities.

As a result, total assets increased by 29.5% to 241,671 

million yen ($2,349,057 thousand).

Liabilities

Current liabilities decreased by 6.3% compared to the 

previous fiscal year to 41,455 million yen ($402,945 

thousand). This was primarily due to a decline of 23,840 

million yen in short-term bank loans, which offset an 

increase of 2,860 million yen in accounts payable, trade, 

and an increase of 15,014 million yen in the current portion 

of long-term debt.

Long-term liabilities increased by 17.9% compared to 

the previous fiscal year to 44,714 million yen ($434,623 

thousand). This was primarily due to an increase in long-

term debt of 4,868 million yen.

Total Net Assets

Total net assets grew by 48.8% compared to the previous 

fiscal year to 155,502 million yen ($1,511,489 thousand). 

This was due primarily to a rise of 9,983 million yen in 

common stock and 10,290 million yen in capital surplus 

reflecting stock issuance, an improvement of 12,222 million 

yen in translation adjustments, a decrease of 8,134 million 

yen in treasury stock reflecting sales of such stock, and net 

income of 9,443 million yen, from which cash dividends of 

2,212 million yen were paid.

Analysis of Business Results

Net Sales

In the fiscal year under review, net sales were 160,729 million 

yen ($1,562,296 thousand), up 8.2% compared to the previous 

fiscal year. The sales composition by segment was Japan 33.1%, 

the Americas 33.5%, Europe 20.0%, and China and Asia 

13.4%. Factors contributing to the increase in net sales 

included firm demand in the United States and recovering 

demand in Japan, Europe and China throughout the period.

Cost of Sales, and Selling, General and 

Administrative (SG&A) Expenses

The cost of sales was 107,469 million yen ($1,044,605 

thousand), up 2.9% compared to the previous fiscal year. 

The cost of sales as a percentage of net sales declined by 

3.4 percentage points to 66.9% as a result of the continued 

weakening of the yen. Together with the rise in net sales, 

SG&A expenses increased by 9.7% to 43,903 million yen 

($426,740 thousand). SG&A expenses as a percentage of 

net sales rose by 0.4 percentage point to 27.3%. This 

reflected factors such as freight costs of 4,782 million yen 

($46,480 thousand) (down 8.4%), wages and bonuses of 

13,115 million yen ($127,475 thousand) (up 19.4%), 

and research and development costs of 3,363 million yen 

($32,686 thousand) (up 23.0%).

Financial Summary
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Operating Income/Loss

Primarily as a result of the rise in net sales, operating income 

reached 9,357 million yen ($90,951 thousand), up 126.3% 

compared to the previous fiscal year. By segment, Japan 

posted segment income of 8,633 million yen ($83,913 

thousand) (up 83.0% from the previous fiscal year), 

the Americas posted segment income of 1,133 million yen 

($11,013 thousand) (compared to a segment loss of 

995 million yen in the previous fiscal year), Europe 

posted a segment loss of 25 million yen ($243 thousand) 

(compared to a segment loss of 62 million yen in the previous 

fiscal year), and China and Asia posted a segment loss of 

435 million yen ($4,228 thousand) (compared to a segment 

loss of 2 million yen in the previous fiscal year).

Net Income/Loss

The Group posted income before income taxes and minority 

interests of 11,376 million yen ($110,575 thousand), up 

101.8% compared to the previous fiscal year.

Income taxes totaled 1,830 million yen ($17,787 thousand), 

a rise of 1,707 million yen from 123 million yen in the previous 

fiscal year.

After minority interests in net income of consolidated 

subsidiaries of 103 million yen ($1,001 thousand), net income 

was 9,443 million yen ($91,787 thousand), up 82.6%.

Analysis of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal year 

under review were 18,916 million yen ($183,866 thousand), 

an increase of 12,648 million yen compared to the previous 

fiscal year.

Cash flows and their contributing factors during the 

fiscal year under review were as follows.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was 5,907 million 

yen ($57,417 thousand) (compared to 21,421 million yen 

provided in the previous fiscal year). Major inflows included 

income before income taxes and minority interests of 

11,376 million yen ($110,575 thousand), depreciation and 

amortization of 6,055 million yen ($58,855 thousand), and 

an increase in accounts payable of 2,220 million yen 

($21,579 thousand). Major outflows included an increase in 

notes and accounts receivable of 6,106 million yen ($59,351 

thousand), an increase in inventories of 5,043 million yen 

($49,018 thousand), and a net foreign exchange gain of 

2,311 million yen ($22,463 thousand).

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was 17,527 million yen 

($170,363 thousand) (compared to 10,089 million yen used 

in the previous fiscal year). The main factors behind this 

decrease were an increase in investments in affiliates of 

7,658 million yen ($74,436 thousand), purchases of 

property, plant and equipment of 7,142 million yen 

($69,421 thousand), and purchases of intangible assets of 

1,868 million yen ($18,157 thousand).

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was 23,914 million 

yen ($232,446 thousand) (compared to 10,086 million yen 

used in the previous fiscal year). The main factors behind 

this increase were proceeds from issuance of common stock 

of 19,859 million yen ($193,031 thousand), proceeds from 

issuance of bonds of 19,907 million yen ($193,497 thousand), 

and proceeds from sales of treasury stock of 10,579 million 

yen ($102,829 thousand). Other factors contributing to this 

change were a decrease in short-term bank loans, net, of 

23,840 million yen ($231,726 thousand), and cash dividends 

of 2,216 million yen ($21,540 thousand).
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
31st March, 2014

Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2014 2013 2014

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash deposits (Notes 4 and 19) ¥ 18,935 ¥ 6,288 $ 184,049 

Notes and accounts receivable (Note 19):

Trade  32,989  24,824  320,655 

Allowance for doubtful receivables  (208)  (230)  (2,022) 

Notes and accounts receivable, net  32,781  24,594  318,633 

Inventories (Notes 5, 15, 23 and 26)  40,771  37,941  396,297 

Deferred income taxes (Note 10)  3,067  2,742  29,811 

Other current assets  3,799  3,175  36,927 

Total current assets  99,353  74,740  965,717 

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 7 and 25):

Land (Note 13)  22,253  21,774  216,301 

Buildings and structures  75,896  70,495  737,714 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles  42,665  39,002  414,706 

Leased assets (Notes 18 and 23)  5,781  5,456  56,192 

Construction in progress  1,767  1,883  17,175 

 148,362  138,610  1,442,088 

Accumulated depreciation  (79,352)  (75,822)  (771,306) 

Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 25)  69,010  62,788  670,782 

Investments and other assets:

Investments in securities (Notes 6 and 19):

Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates  52,801  30,058  513,229 

Other  12,323  10,796  119,780 

Total investments in securities  65,124  40,854  633,009 

Deferred income taxes (Note 10)  275  944  2,673 

Other assets:

Goodwill (Notes 7 and 25)  704  667  6,843 

Long-term loan receivable  87  132  846 

Other  7,118  6,529  69,187 

Total other assets  7,909  7,328  76,876 

Total investments and other assets  73,308  49,126  712,558 

Total assets (Note 25) ¥ 241,671 ¥ 186,654 $ 2,349,057 
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2014 2013 2014

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Short-term bank loans (Notes 9 and 19) ¥ 90 ¥ 23,930 $ 875 

Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 9 and 19)  15,443  429  150,107 

Accounts payable, trade (Note 19)  11,937  9,077  116,028 

Accrued income taxes (Note 10)  793  861  7,708 

Accrued expenses  1,942  1,583  18,876 

Deferred income taxes (Note 10)  6  249  58 

Advances received  2,141  1,894  20,811 

Allowance for product warranties  944  833  9,176 

Allowance for bonuses to employees  171  168  1,662 

Allowance for bonuses to directors and corporate auditors  22  18  214 

Other current liabilities  7,966  5,212  77,430 

Total current liabilities  41,455  44,254  402,945 

Long-term liabilities:

Long-term debt (Notes 9 and 19)  38,854  33,986  377,663 

Deferred income taxes (Note 10)  2,578  1,400  25,058 

Deferred income taxes on land revaluation reserve 
(Notes 10 and 13)  1,485  1,485  14,434 

Accrued retirement benefits (Note 8)  —  222  — 

Liability for retirement benefits (Note 8)  379  —  3,684 

Asset retirement obligations (Note 11)  102  63  991 

Other long-term liabilities  1,316  763  12,793 

Total long-term liabilities  44,714  37,919  434,623 

Contingent liabilities (Note 14)

Net assets
Shareholders’ equity (Note 12):

Common stock:

Authorized –   300,000,000 shares in 2014 and 
200,000,000 shares in 2013

Issued        –   132,943,683 shares in 2014 and
118,475,312 shares in 2013  51,116  41,132  496,851 

Capital surplus  64,153  53,863  623,571 

Retained earnings (Note 27)  25,502  18,271  247,881 

Treasury stock, at cost (Note 12)
  –   3,005,226 shares in 2014 and

9,091,233 shares in 2013  (3,610)  (11,743)  (35,089) 

Total shareholders’ equity  137,161  101,523  1,333,214 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 22):

Net unrealized holding gain on securities (Notes 6 and 10)  4,004  2,616  38,919 

Net unrealized gain on derivative instruments  2  186  19 

Land revaluation reserve (Notes 10 and 13)  1,759  1,759  17,098 

Translation adjustments  8,798  (3,424)  85,517 

Retirement benefits liability adjustments (Note 8)  (399)  —  (3,878) 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income  14,164  1,137  137,675 

Stock acquisition rights (Note 12)  34  435  330 

Minority interests  4,143  1,386  40,270 

Total net assets  155,502  104,481  1,511,489 

Total liabilities and net assets ¥ 241,671 ¥ 186,654 $ 2,349,057 

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2014 2013 2014

Net sales (Note 25) ¥ 160,729 ¥ 148,559 $ 1,562,296 

Cost of sales (Notes 8, 12 and 15)  107,469  104,393  1,044,605 

Gross profit  53,260  44,166  517,691 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 8 and 16)  43,903  40,032  426,740 

Operating income (Note 25)  9,357  4,134  90,951 

Other income (expenses):

Interest and dividend income  378  353  3,674 

Interest expense  (575)  (545)  (5,589) 

Gain on sales of investments in securities (Note 6)  5  6  49 

Loss on devaluation of shares of a subsidiary (Note 19)  (35)  —  (340) 

Foreign exchange gain, net  1,478  757  14,366 

Loss on sales and disposal of property, 
plant and equipment, net  (270)  (5)  (2,624) 

Loss on impairment of goodwill (Notes 7 and 25)  —  (108)  — 

Equity in earnings of affiliates, net  1,008  681  9,798 

Business restructuring expenses (Notes 15 and 20)  (3,332)  —  (32,387) 

Gain on reversal of stock acquisition rights (Note 12)  374  25  3,635 

Gain on business transfer  —  288  — 

Gain on change in equity in investments in subsidiaries (Note 26)  3,404  —  33,087 

Insurance income  —  554  — 

Retirement benefit expenses (Note 8)  —  (105)  — 

Other, net  (416)  (398)  (4,045) 

Income before income taxes and minority interests  11,376  5,637  110,575 

Income taxes (Note 10):

Current  1,209  803  11,751 

Deferred  621  (680)  6,036 

 1,830  123  17,787 

Income before minority interests  9,546  5,514  92,788 

Minority interests in net income of consolidated subsidiaries  103  344  1,001 

Net income ¥ 9,443 ¥ 5,170 $ 91,787 

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements

Consolidated Statement of Income
DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended 31st March, 2014
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2014 2013 2014

Income before minority interests ¥ 9,546 ¥ 5,514 $ 92,788 

Other comprehensive income (Note 22):

Net unrealized holding gain on securities (Note 6)  922  478  8,962 

Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments  (242)  —  (2,352) 

Translation adjustments  2,384  2,304  23,172 

Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates 
accounted for by the equity method  10,365  3,720  100,748 

Total other comprehensive income  13,429  6,502  130,530 

Comprehensive income ¥ 22,975 ¥ 12,016 $ 223,318 

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company ¥ 22,869 ¥ 11,642 $ 222,288 

Minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries  106  374  1,030 

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended 31st March, 2014
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Millions of yen

Number of shares
of common stock

in issue

Common 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury stock, 
at cost

Net unrealized 
holding gain on

securities

Balance at 1st April, 2012 118,475,312 ¥ 41,132 ¥ 53,863 ¥ 15,313 ¥ (11,743) ¥ 2,133

Net income — — — 5,170 — —

Cash dividends — — — (2,212) — —

Purchases of treasury stock — — — — (0) —

Net changes of items other than 
shareholders’ equity — — — — — 483

Balance at 1st April, 2013 118,475,312 41,132 53,863 18,271 (11,743) 2,616

Net income — — — 9,443 — —

Cash dividends — — — (2,212) — —

Issuance of new shares 14,468,371 9,984 9,983 — — —

Purchases of treasury stock — — — — (1) —

Sales of treasury stock — — 307 — 10,404 —

Increase in equity in affiliates 
accounted for by equity method — — — — (2,270) —

Net changes of items other than 
shareholders’ equity — — — — — 1,388

Balance at 31st March, 2014 132,943,683 ¥ 51,116 ¥ 64,153 ¥ 25,502 ¥ (3,610) ¥ 4,004

Millions of yen

Net unrealized 
gain on derivative 

instruments

Land 
revaluation

reserve

Translation
adjustments

Retirement 
benefits liability 

adjustments

Stock
acquisition

rights

Minority
interests

Total net
assets

Balance at 1st April, 2012 ¥ 105 ¥ 1,759 ¥ (9,332) ¥ — ¥ 466 ¥ 1,022 ¥ 94,718

Net income — — — — — — 5,170

Cash dividends — — — — — — (2,212)

Purchases of treasury stock — — — — — — (0)

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity 81 — 5,908 — (31) 364 6,805

Balance at 1st April, 2013 186 1,759 (3,424) — 435 1,386 104,481

Net income — — — — — — 9,443

Cash dividends — — — — — — (2,212)

Issuance of new shares — — — — — — 19,967

Purchases of treasury stock — — — — — — (1)

Sales of treasury stock — — — — — — 10,711

Increase in equity in affiliates 
accounted for by equity method — — — — — — (2,270)

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity (184) — 12,222 (399) (401) 2,757 15,383

Balance at 31st March, 2014 ¥ 2 ¥ 1,759 ¥ 8,798 ¥ (399) ¥ 34 ¥ 4,143 ¥ 155,502

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended 31st March, 2014
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Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Common
stock

Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury stock 
at cost

Net unrealized
holding gain on

securities

Balance at 1st April, 2013 $ 399,806 $ 523,552 $ 177,595 $ (114,143) $ 25,428

Net income — — 91,787 — —

Cash dividends — — (21,501) — —

Issuance of new shares 97,045 97,035 — — —

Purchases of treasury stock — — — (10) —

Sales of treasury stock — 2,984 — 101,128 —

Increase in equity in affiliates 
accounted for by equity method — — — (22,064) —

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity — — — — 13,491

Balance at 31st March, 2014 $ 496,851 $ 623,571 $ 247,881 $ (35,089) $ 38,919

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)

Net unrealized
gain on derivative

instruments

Land
revaluation

reserve

Translation
adjustments

Retirement 
benefits liability 

adjustments

Stock
acquisition

rights

Minority
interests

Total net
assets

Balance at 1st April, 2013 $ 1,807 $ 17,098 $ (33,281) $ — $ 4,228 $ 13,472 $ 1,015,562

Net income — — — — — — 91,787

Cash dividends — — — — — — (21,501)

Issuance of new shares — — — — — — 194,080

Purchases of treasury stock — — — — — — (10)

Sales of treasury stock — — — — — — 104,112

Increase in equity in affiliates 
accounted for by equity method — — — — — — (22,064)

Net changes of items other 
than shareholders’ equity (1,788) — 118,798 (3,878) (3,898) 26,798 149,523

Balance at 31st March, 2014 $ 19 $ 17,098 $ 85,517 $ (3,878) $ 330 $ 40,270 $ 1,511,489

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2014 2013 2014

Operating activities:

Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥ 11,376 ¥ 5,637 $ 110,575 

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and 
minority interests to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization  6,055  6,954  58,855 

Loss on impairment of goodwill  —  108  — 

Loss on sales and disposal of property, plant 
and equipment, net  270  5  2,624 

Gain on sales of investments in securities  (5)  (6)  (49) 

Loss on devaluation of shares of a subsidiary  35  —  340 

Equity in earnings of affiliates, net  (1,008)  (681)  (9,798) 

Business restructuring expenses  3,332  —  32,387 

Gain on reversal of stock acquisition rights  (374)  (25)  (3,635) 

Gain on business transfer  —  (288)  — 

Gain on change in equity in investments in subsidiaries  (3,404)  —  (33,087) 

Insurance income  —  (554)  — 

Increase (decrease) in allowance for bonuses to employees  3  (28)  29 

Increase (decrease) in allowance for bonuses to 
directors and corporate auditors  4  (23)  39 

(Decrease) increase in allowance for doubtful receivables  (31)  39  (301) 

Decrease in accrued retirement benefits  (230)  (126)  (2,235) 

Increase in liability for retirement benefits  130  —  1,264 

Increase (decrease) in allowance for product warranties  109  (6)  1,060 

Interest and dividend income  (378)  (353)  (3,674) 

Interest expense  575  545  5,589 

Foreign exchange gain, net  (2,311)  (1,957)  (22,463) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Notes and accounts receivable  (6,106)  6,344  (59,351) 

Inventories  (5,043)  6,683  (49,018) 

Accounts payable  2,220  (2,018)  21,579 

Other, net  1,570  1,210  15,260 

Subtotal  6,789  21,460  65,990 

Interest and dividend income received  839  580  8,155 

Interest paid  (576)  (547)  (5,599) 

Income taxes paid  (1,145)  (433)  (11,129) 

Proceeds from insurance income  —  554  — 

Additional contribution on withdrawal from pension fund  —  (193)  — 

Net cash provided by operating activities ¥ 5,907 ¥ 21,421 $ 57,417 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended 31st March, 2014
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2014 2013 2014

Investing activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment ¥ (7,142) ¥ (9,929) $ (69,421) 

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment  148  112  1,439 

Increase in investments in securities  (2)  (1)  (19) 

Proceeds from sales of investments in securities  15  113  146 

Increase in investments in affiliates  (7,658)  (203)  (74,436) 

Proceeds from business transfer (Note 23)  —  1,783  — 

Expenditures for business divestiture (Note 23)  (30)  —  (292) 

Acquisition of shares from minority interests in 
consolidated subsidiaries  —  (87)  — 

Acquisition of shares of subsidiaries resulting in 
change in scope of consolidation (Note 23)  (987)  —  (9,594) 

Proceeds from purchase of investments in a subsidiary 
resulting in change in scope of consolidation  —  25  — 

Purchases of intangible assets  (1,868)  (1,993)  (18,157) 

Other, net  (3)  91  (29) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (17,527)  (10,089)  (170,363) 

Financing activities:

Decrease in short-term bank loans, net  (23,840)  (4,848)  (231,726) 

Proceeds from issuance of bonds  19,907  —  193,497 

Proceeds from issuance of common stock  19,859  —  193,031 

Redemption of bonds with stock acquisition rights  —  (2,583)  — 

Cash dividends  (2,216)  (2,219)  (21,540) 

Purchases of treasury stock  (1)  (1)  (10) 

Proceeds from sales of treasury stock  10,579  —  102,829 

Other, net  (374)  (435)  (3,635) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  23,914  (10,086)  232,446 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and 
cash equivalents  330  489  3,208 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  12,624  1,735  122,707 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  6,268  4,533  60,925 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents resulting from 
exclusion of subsidiaries from consolidation  (1)  —  (10) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from 
merger with an unconsolidated subsidiary  25  —  243 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 4) ¥ 18,916 ¥ 6,268 $ 183,866 

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements
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DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. (the “Company”) and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries maintain their accounts and records in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 

Japan.  Its overseas consolidated subsidiaries maintain their 

accounts and records in conformity with the requirements of their 

respective countries of domicile.  Since March 2009, Mori Seiki 

Co., Ltd. (“Mori Seiki”) and DMG MORI SEIKI AG. (formerly, 

GILDEMEISTER Aktiengesellschaft) have mutually developed a 

capital and business relationship.  In its Board of Directors’ 

meeting held on 20th March, 2013 Mori Seiki made the decision to 

change its name to DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted 

in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the 

application and disclosure requirements of International Financial 

Reporting Standards, and have been compiled from the 

consolidated financial statements prepared by the Company as 

required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan.

In preparing the accompanying financial statements, certain 

reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to 

the consolidated financial statements issued in Japan in order to present 

them in a format which is more familiar to readers outside Japan.  

In addition, the notes to the consolidated financial statements include 

information which is not required under accounting principles generally 

accepted in Japan but is presented herein as additional information.

Certain reclassifications of previously reported amounts have been 

made to conform the consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended March 31, 2013 to the 2014 presentation.  Such reclassifications 

had no effect on consolidated net income or net assets.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 

translated from yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts, solely for 

convenience, as a matter of arithmetic computation only, at 

¥102.88 = U.S.$1.00, the exchange rate prevailing on 31st March, 

2014.  This translation should not be construed as a representation 

that yen have been, could have been, or could in the future be, 

converted into U.S. dollars at the above or any other rate.

1.  Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

(1)  Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 

the accounts of the Company and significant subsidiaries over 

which substantial control is exerted through either majority 

ownership of voting stock and/or by other means.  In addition, 

significant affiliates over which substantial control is significantly 

affected by the consolidated group in various ways have been 

accounted for by the equity method.  All significant intercompany 

balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

For consolidation purposes, the financial statements of seven 

consolidated subsidiaries whose fiscal year end date differs from 

that of the Company have been included in consolidation on 

the basis of a full fiscal year provisional closing of their accounts, 

for the year ended 31st March.  The fiscal year end of these seven 

subsidiaries is 31st December.  

Among those equity-method affiliates whose fiscal year end 

date differs from that of the Company, year-end financial 

statements are used for three affiliates and the provisional interim 

closing financial statements as of the Company’s fiscal year end 

date are used for other three affiliates.

(2)  Foreign currency translation

Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated into yen at the rates of exchange in effect at the balance 

sheet date.  Gain or loss resulting from such translation 

adjustments is credited or charged to income as incurred.  

The balance sheet accounts of the overseas consolidated 

subsidiaries are translated into yen at the rates of exchange in 

effect at the balance sheet date, except for the components of net 

assets excluding minority interests which are translated at their 

historical rates. 

The differences resulting from translation are presented as 

components of net assets in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheet.  Revenues, expenses and cash flows are translated 

at the average rates for the year.

(3)  Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with 

banks withdrawable on demand, and short-term investments which 

are readily convertible to cash subject to an insignificant risk of 

any changes in their value and which are purchased with an 

original maturity of three months or less.

(4)  Allowance for doubtful receivables

The allowance for doubtful receivables is calculated based on 

the actual historical ratio of bad debts and an estimate of certain 

uncollectible amounts determined after an analysis of specific 

individual receivables.

(5)  Marketable securities and investments in securities

The accounting standard applicable to financial instruments 

requires that securities be classified into three categories: trading 

securities, held-to-maturity debt securities or other securities.  

Trading securities are carried at market value, and gain or loss, 

both realized and unrealized, is credited or charged to income.  

Marketable securities classified as other securities are carried at 

market value with any changes in unrealized holding gain or loss, 

net of the applicable income taxes, reported as a separate 

component of net assets.  Non-marketable securities classified as 

other securities are carried at cost. Cost of securities sold is 

determined principally by the moving average method.  

Investments in investment limited partnerships are stated at the 

net value of equities based on the most recent financial statements 

available prepared according to the financial reporting dates 

specified in the respective partnership agreements.

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
DMG MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Year ended 31st March, 2014
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(6)  Derivatives

Derivatives are stated at fair value.

(7)  Inventories

Merchandise, finished goods and work-in-process of the Company 

and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries are stated at lower of 

cost or net selling value, cost being determined by the gross 

average method.

Merchandise, finished goods and work-in-process of overseas 

consolidated subsidiaries are stated at lower of cost or net selling 

value, cost being determined by the first-in, first-out method.

Raw materials are stated at lower of cost or market value, 

cost being determined by the moving average method.

Supplies are stated at lower of cost or market value, cost being 

determined by the last purchase price method.

(8)  Property, plant and equipment 

(Other than leased assets)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of the Company and 

its consolidated subsidiaries, except for one domestic subsidiary, is 

calculated by the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are 

summarized as follows: 

Buildings and structures 7 to 50 years

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 2 to 17 years

(9)  Research and development costs and 

computer software (Other than leased assets)

Research and development costs are charged to income when 

incurred.

Expenditures relating to software developed for internal use 

are charged to income when incurred unless these contribute to 

the generation of future income or cost savings.  Such expenditures 

are capitalized as assets and amortized by the straight-line method 

over the useful life of the software, generally 5 years.  Expenditures 

relating to software developed for sales in the market are 

capitalized as assets and amortized by the straight-line method 

over the prospective sales period, generally 3 years.

(10)  Leased assets

Leased assets under finance lease contracts that transfer 

ownership to the lessee are depreciated by the same depreciation 

methods as applied to equivalent assets owned by the Company 

and its consolidated subsidiaries using the economic useful lives of 

the leased assets. 

Leased assets under finance lease contracts that do not transfer 

ownership to the lessee are depreciated to the residual value of 

zero by the straight-line method using the terms of the contracts as 

the useful lives.

Finance lease transactions commencing on or before 31st 

March, 2008 other than those in which the ownership of the leased 

assets is transferred to the lessee are accounted for in the same 

manner as operating leases.

(11)  Goodwill

Goodwill is amortized by the straight-line method over 5 to 10 years.

(12)  Bond issuance costs and stock issuance costs

Bond issuance costs and stock issuance costs are expensed when 

incurred.

(13)  Income taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized by the asset and liability 

method.  Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are determined based on the differences between 

financial reporting and the tax bases of the assets and liabilities 

and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws which will 

be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

(14)  Allowance for product warranties

Allowance for product warranties is calculated based on the actual 

historical ratio of repair costs per corresponding product sales, 

to provide for future repairs during free charge product warranty 

periods.

(15)  Allowance for bonuses to employees

For two domestic consolidated subsidiaries, allowance for bonuses 

to employees is provided for based on the estimated amount to 

be paid to employees after the balance sheet date for their services 

rendered during the current period.

(16)  Allowance for bonuses to directors and 

corporate auditors

Allowance for bonuses to directors and corporate auditors is 

calculated based on the estimated amount of bonuses to be paid to 

directors and corporate auditors in one domestic consolidated 

subsidiary.

(17)  Retirement benefit accounting

The retirement benefit obligations are attributed to each period by 

the method of attributing expected retirement benefits.

Actuarial gain or loss is amortized by the straight-line method 

over a certain period within the average remaining years of service 

of the eligible employees.

(18)  Hedge accounting

Gain or loss on derivatives designated as hedging instruments is 

deferred until the gain or loss on the underlying hedged items is 

recognized.

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts 

principally in order to manage certain risks arising from 

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.  The Company evaluates 

the effectiveness of its hedging activities by comparing cumulative 

changes in cash flows on the hedging instruments with those of 

the related hedged items.

Hedging instruments Forward foreign exchange contracts

Hedged items  Forecasted transactions in foreign currencies

(19)  Consolidated taxation system

The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries 

adopt the consolidated taxation system.
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Change in depreciation method
The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries had been 

calculating depreciation of property, plant and equipment, except 

for buildings (other than structures attached to the buildings) 

acquired on and after 1st April, 1998 using the declining-balance 

method.  Effective the year ended 31st March, 2014, the Company 

and its consolidated subsidiaries, except for one domestic 

subsidiary, have changed their depreciation method of property, 

plant and equipment from the declining-balance method to the 

straight-line method.

The consolidated group evaluated the operating levels of 

production equipment in line with the increasing necessity for 

developing a uniformed management system on global basis in 

order to pursue globalization of production and further 

collaboration for sales, development and production with DMG 

MORI SEIKI AG based on the mid-term management plan.  As a 

result, the Company determined that the straight-line method of 

depreciation would better present the usage pattern of economic 

benefits based on actual operations because the production 

equipment will be operated more evenly through globalization of 

production and consolidation of sales locations and establishment 

of a collaborative production system with DMG MORI SEIKI AG.

As a result of this change, compared with the previous method, 

operating income and income before income taxes and minority 

interests increased by ¥886 million ($8,612 thousand) for the year 

ended 31st March, 2014.

Adoption of Accounting Standard for Retirement 
Benefits, etc.
The Company adopted “Accounting Standard for Retirement 

Benefits” (ASBJ Statement No. 26, 17th May, 2012, “Retirement 

Benefits Accounting Standard”) and the “Guidance on the 

Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ Guidance No. 

25, 17th May, 2012, “Guidance on Retirement Benefits”), except 

for the treatment allowed under the main clause of Section 35 of 

the Retirement Benefit Accounting Standard and the main clause 

of Section 67 of the Guidance on Retirement Benefits, from the 

year ended 31st March, 2014.  Consequently, the amount of 

retirement benefit obligations after deducting pension assets is 

recorded as liability for retirement benefits, and unrecognized 

actuarial differences are also recorded in liability for retirement 

benefits.

With regard to the application of the retirement benefit 

accounting standards, etc., in accordance with the transitional 

treatment stipulated in Section 37 of the Retirement Benefits 

Accounting Standard, the amount of the financial impact resulting 

from this change was added to, or deducted from, retirement 

benefits liability adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive 

income.

As a result of this change, liability for retirement benefits of 

¥379 million ($3,684 thousand) was recorded and accumulated 

other comprehensive income (including share of other 

comprehensive income of affiliates accounted for by the equity 

method) decreased by ¥399 million ($3,878 thousand) as of 31st 

March, 2014.  Net assets per share decreased by ¥3.07 ($0.03).

3.  Change in Accounting Policy

(20)  Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

On 13th September, 2013, the Accounting Standards Board of 

Japan (“ASBJ”) issued “Revised Accounting Standard for Business 

Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No.21), “Revised Accounting 

Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement 

No.22), “Revised Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 

(ASBJ Statement No.7), “Revised Accounting Standard for 

Earnings Per Share” (ASBJ Statement No.2), “Revised Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting 

Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No.10) and 

“Revised Guidance on Accounting Standard for Earnings Per 

Share” (ASBJ Guidance No.4).

Under these revised accounting standards, the accounting 

treatment for any changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a 

subsidiary when the parent retains control over the subsidiary and 

the corresponding accounting for acquisition-related costs were 

amended.  In addition, the presentation method of net income was 

amended, the reference to “minority interests” was changed to 

“non-controlling interests,” and transitional provisions for these 

accounting standards were also defined.

These standards and related guidance are effective from the 

beginning of the fiscal year ending on 31st March, 2016.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact by these 

modifications will have on its consolidated results of operations 

and financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Marketable securities classified as other securities as of 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen Millions of yen

2014 2013

Carrying 
value

Acquisition 
cost

Unrealized 
gain

Carrying 
value

Acquisition 
cost

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

Securities whose carrying value exceeds 
their acquisition cost:

Equity securities ¥ 11,591 ¥ 6,526 ¥ 5,065 ¥ 9,756 ¥ 6,165 ¥ 3,591

Subtotal  11,591 6,526 5,065 9,756 6,165 3,591

Securities whose carrying value does not 
exceed their acquisition cost:

Equity securities — — — 346 360 (14)

Subtotal — — — 346 360 (14)

Total ¥ 11,591 ¥ 6,526 ¥ 5,065 ¥ 10,102 ¥ 6,525 ¥ 3,577

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014

Carrying 
value

Acquisition 
cost

Unrealized 
gain

Securities whose carrying value exceeds 
their acquisition cost:

Equity securities $ 112,665 $ 63,433 $ 49,232

Subtotal 112,665 63,433 49,232

Securities whose carrying value does not 
exceed their acquisition cost:

Equity securities — — —

Subtotal — — —

Total $ 112,665 $ 63,433 $ 49,232

The sales of other securities and aggregate gain on the sales for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Sales amount ¥ 15 ¥ 113 $ 146

Aggregate gain 5 6 49

6. Securities

In the presentation of the consolidated statements of cash flows, 

the relationship between the items included in cash and cash 

equivalents and the corresponding amounts reflected in cash and 

cash deposits in the consolidated balance sheets at 31st March, 

2014 and 2013 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Cash and cash deposits ¥ 18,935 ¥ 6,288 $ 184,049

Time deposits with an original 
maturity in excess of three months 
included in cash and deposits (19) (20) (183)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of year ¥ 18,916 ¥ 6,268 $ 183,866

4.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Inventories at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Merchandise and finished goods ¥ 15,887 ¥ 12,196 $ 154,423

Work in process 7,710 7,190 74,942

Raw materials and supplies 17,174 18,555 166,932

Total ¥ 40,771 ¥ 37,941 $ 396,297

5.  Inventories

15DMG MORI SEIKI  Annual Report 2014



Year ended 31st March, 2014

The Company and consolidated subsidiaries have established 

funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans and defined 

contribution pension plans.  In addition to the above, certain 

domestic consolidated subsidiaries participate in a small- and 

medium-sized enterprise mutual aid plan and other plans.

All defined benefit corporate pension plans are funded plans, 

which provide employees a lump-sum payment or pension 

payments based on salary level and length of service.  The lump-

sum payment plans, all of which are unfunded plans, for certain 

consolidated subsidiaries are accounted for using a simplified 

method for calculating liability for retirement benefits and 

retirement benefit expenses.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
(1) The reconciliation of the beginning balance and the ending balance 

of the retirement benefit obligation, except for a simplified method, 

for the year ended 31st March, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Balance at beginning of the year ¥ 1,244 $ 12,092

Service cost 69 671

Interest cost 29 282

Actuarial differences (47) (457)

Payment of retirement benefits (165) (1,604)

Other 300 2,916

Balance at end of the year ¥ 1,430 $ 13,900

(2) The reconciliation of the beginning balance and the ending 

balance of plan assets, except for a simplified method, for the year 

ended 31st March, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Balance at beginning of the year ¥ 919 $ 8,933

Expected return on plan assets 21 204

Actuarial differences 27 263

Contributions to the pension plan 46 447

Payment of retirement benefits (165) (1,604)

Other 211 2,051

Balance at end of the year ¥ 1,059 $ 10,294

(3) The reconciliation of the beginning balance and the ending 

balance of liability for retirement benefits calculated using a 

simplified method for the year ended 31st March, 2014 is 

summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Balance at beginning of the year ¥ 149 $ 1,448

Retirement benefit expenses 2 20

Decrease in liability for retirement 
benefits due to change the plan to 
defined contribution pension plan (143) (1,390)

Balance at end of the year ¥ 8 $ 78

(4) The reconciliation of the ending balance of retirement benefit 

obligation and plan assets and liability for retirement benefits 

recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at 31st March, 2014 is 

summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Retirement benefit obligation for 
funded plans ¥ 1,430 $ 13,900

Plan assets (1,059) (10,294)

371 3,606

Retirement benefit obligation for 
unfunded plans 8 78

Net of liability and asset recorded in 
the consolidated balance sheet ¥ 379 $ 3,684

Liability for retirement benefits ¥ 379 $ 3,684

Liability for retirement benefits recorded 
in the consolidated balance sheet ¥ 379 $ 3,684

8. Retirement Benefits

Please refer to Note 20 Business Restructuring Expenses for 

details of loss on impairment recorded for the year ended 31st 

March, 2014.

The details of loss on impairment of goodwill recorded for the 

year ended 31st March, 2013 are as follows:

Company Classification Millions of yen

B.U.G., Inc. Goodwill ¥108

B.U.G., Inc., a domestic consolidated subsidiary, became a 

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company during the year ended 

31st March, 2013, and its name has been changed to B.U.G. MORI 

SEIKI CO., LTD.  Also, the principal business of B.U.G. MORI SEIKI 

CO., LTD. has changed to research and development activities for 

the Company from sales activities.  The Company recognized a 

loss on impairment of goodwill as it is anticipated that the initial 

income target will not be achieved.  The Company basically groups 

assets by operating department.  Assets in the manufacturing 

department are grouped according to plant.  The recoverable 

amount of the above goodwill measured at value in use was zero.

7. Loss on Impairment of Goodwill
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(5) The breakdown of retirement benefit expenses for the year ended 

31st March, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Service cost ¥ 69 $ 671

Interest cost 29 282

Expected return on plan assets (21) (204)

Retirement benefit expenses 
calculated using simplified method 2 20

Other 10 96

Retirement benefit expenses for 
defined benefit pension plans

¥ 89 $ 865

(6) The breakdown of retirement benefits liability adjustments 

(before tax effect) at 31st March, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Unrecognized actuarial loss ¥ 242 $ 2,352

Total ¥ 242 $ 2,352

(7) The components of plan assets at 31st March, 2014 are 

summarized as follows:

2014

Debt securities  11.2% 

Equity securities  23.9 

Cash and deposits  8.3 

Real estate  27.4 

Other  29.2 

 100.0% 

(8) The assumptions used for the actuarial calculations for the year 

ended 31st March, 2014 are summarized as follows:

2014

Discount rates 2.25 – 2.90%

Expected rates of return on plan assets 2.25 – 2.90%

Defined Contribution Pension Plans

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Contributions to the pension plan ¥ 1,082 $ 10,517

Contributions to a small- and medium-
sized enterprise mutual aid plan 10 97

Contributions to a mutual aid plan 
defined by the Order for Enforcement 
of the Income Tax Act 13 126

Year ended 31st March, 2013

The Company and eight domestic consolidated subsidiaries have 

established an employees’ defined contribution pension plan. 

In addition to the above, two domestic consolidated subsidiaries 

participated in a small- and medium-sized enterprise mutual aid 

plan and a multi-employer pension plan covering all of their 

employees and other, and withdrew from the multi-employer plan 

during the year ended 31st March, 2013. Furthermore, certain 

overseas consolidated subsidiaries have established a defined 

benefit plan, a benefit plan for a lump-sum payment, or an 

employees’ defined contribution pension plan.

Since the portion of pension assets belonging to a multi-

employer pension plan could not be reasonably calculated, the 

required contribution amount was recognized as retirement benefit 

expenses.  For the year ended 31st March, 2013, the amount of the 

multi-employer pension plan’s assets was not disclosed as the 

subsidiaries withdrew from the plan as explained above.

The retirement benefit obligation at 31st March, 2013 is 

summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2013

(1) Retirement benefit obligation ¥ (1,393) 

(2) Plan assets at fair value  919 

(3)  Unfunded retirement benefit obligation 
(1) + (2)  (474) 

(4) Unrecognized actuarial loss  252 

(5) Accrued retirement benefits (3) + (4) ¥ (222) 

The retirement benefit expenses for the year ended 31st March, 

2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2013

Service cost ¥ 11 

Interest cost  27 

Expected return on plan assets  (28) 

Actuarial differences  10 

Contributions to the pension plan  904 

Contributions to a small- and medium-sized 
enterprise mutual aid plan  10 

Contributions to a mutual aid plan defined by 
the Order for Enforcement of the Income Tax Act  17 

Contributions to the multi-employer pension plan  24 

Total ¥ 975 

In addition to the above, two domestic consolidated 

subsidiaries recognized additional retirement benefit expenses of 

¥105 million as a special premium was paid in connection with the 

withdrawal from the multi-employer pension plan for the year 

ended 31st March, 2013.

The assumptions used in accounting for the retirement benefit 

obligation for the year ended 31st March, 2013 are summarized as 

follows:

2013

Discount rates 2.30%

Expected rates of return on plan assets 3.00%

Allocation method for estimated benefits Straight-line method

17DMG MORI SEIKI  Annual Report 2014



Income taxes in Japan applicable to the Company and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries consist of corporation tax, inhabitants’ 

taxes and enterprise taxes which, in the aggregate, resulted in a 

statutory tax rate of approximately 37.75% or the years ended 31st 

March, 2014 and 2013.  The overseas subsidiaries are subject to 

the income tax regulations of the respective countries in which 

they operate.

The reconciliation of the differences between the statutory tax 

rate and effective tax rates for the years ended 31st March, 2014 

and 2013 as a percentage of income before income taxes and 

minority interests is as follows:

2014 2013

Statutory tax rate  37.75%  37.75% 

Increase (decrease) in income taxes 
resulting from:

Permanent non-deductible expenses  1.63  3.15 

Tax deduction  (1.62)  (0.95) 

Permanent non-taxable income  (1.69)  (0.84) 

Per capita portion of inhabitants’ taxes  0.39  0.84 

Temporary differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries  (9.89)  1.45 

Reversal of valuation allowance  (11.01)  (40.07) 

Decrease of deferred tax assets resulting 
from change in statutory tax rate  1.02 —

Other, net  (0.49)  0.84 

Effective tax rates  16.09%  2.17% 

10. Income Taxes

Short-term bank loans consist of bank overdrafts and loans under 

commitment lines.  The weighted-average interest rates on short-

term bank loans were 0.42% at 31st March, 2014 and 2013.

For effective financing purposes, the Company and two 

domestic consolidated subsidiaries concluded committed bank 

overdraft agreements with three banks at 31st March, 2014 and 

2013.  The status of such agreements at 31st March, 2014 and 

2013 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Lines of credit of bank 
overdrafts ¥ 16,050 ¥ 16,050 $ 156,006 

Bank overdrafts utilized  (90)  (8,460)  (875) 

Available credit ¥ 15,960 ¥ 7,590 $ 155,131 

For effective financing purposes, the Company concluded 

committed line-of-credit agreements with 22 banks at 31st March, 

2014 and 2013.  The status of such agreements at 31st March, 

2014 and 2013 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Committed lines of credit ¥ 50,000 ¥ 50,000 $ 486,003

Short-term loans utilized — (15,470) —

Available credit ¥ 50,000 ¥ 34,530 $ 486,003

Long-term debt at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 consisted of 

the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Bonds:

0.37% yen bonds due 2015 ¥ 15,000 ¥ 15,000 $ 145,801

0.55% yen bonds due 2017 15,000 15,000 145,801

0.52% yen bonds due 2018 20,000 — 194,401

Finance lease obligations:

Finance lease agreements 4,297 4,415 41,767

Subtotal 54,297 34,415 527,770

Less current portion (15,443) (429) (150,107)

Long-term debt, net ¥ 38,854 ¥ 33,986 $ 377,663

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt subsequent 

to 31st March, 2014 are summarized as follows:

Year ending 31st March, Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 ¥ 15,443 $ 150,107

2016 601 5,842

2017 15,466 150,330

2018 20,391 198,202

2019 380 3,694

2020 and thereafter 2,016 19,595

Total ¥ 54,297 $ 527,770

9. Short-Term Bank Loans and Long-Term Debt
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The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries at 31st March, 

2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Current

Deferred tax assets 
(reflected in current assets):

Inventories ¥ 994 ¥ 511 $ 9,662 

Elimination of unrealized gain on 
inventories  19  58  185 

Allowance for doubtful receivables  2  2  19 

Accrued enterprise taxes  159  97  1,545 

Tax loss carryforwards  887  1,068  8,622 

Other  1,063  1,103  10,332 

Deferred tax assets, subtotal  3,124  2,839  30,365 

Less: valuation allowance  (57)  (97)  (554) 

Deferred tax assets, total ¥ 3,067 ¥ 2,742 $ 29,811 

Offset of deferred tax liabilities  —  —  — 

Deferred tax assets, net ¥ 3,067 ¥ 2,742 $ 29,811 

Deferred tax liabilities 
(reflected in current liabilities):

Other ¥ (6) ¥  (249) $ (58) 

Deferred tax liabilities, total  (6)  (249)  (58) 

Offset of deferred tax assets  —  —  — 

Deferred tax liabilities, net ¥ (6) ¥ (249) $ (58) 

Non-current

Deferred tax assets 
(reflected in investments and other assets):

Inventories ¥ 1,049 ¥ 964 $ 10,196 

Loss on devaluation of listed equity 
securities  879  881  8,544 

Shares of subsidiaries transferred by 
contribution in kind  1,498  1,188  14,561 

Depreciation  435  350  4,228 

One-time write-off applied to assets  10  13  97 

Allowance for doubtful receivables  16  16  156 

Tax loss carryforwards  2,992  6,127  29,082 

Net unrealized gain on derivative 
instruments  38  —  369 

Other  1,704  802  16,564 

Deferred tax assets, subtotal  8,621  10,341  83,797 

Less: valuation allowance  (8,346)  (9,397)  (81,124) 

Deferred tax assets, total ¥ 275 ¥ 944 $ 2,673 

Offset of deferred tax liabilities  —  —  — 

Deferred tax assets, net ¥ 275 ¥ 944 $ 2,673 

Deferred tax liabilities 
(reflected in long-term liabilities):

Reserve for depreciation for tax 
purposes ¥ (80) ¥ (83) $ (778) 

Unrealized holding gain on 
securities  (1,460)  (895)  (14,191) 

Other  (1,038)  (422)  (10,089) 

Deferred tax liabilities, total  (2,578)  (1,400)  (25,058) 

Offset of deferred tax assets  —  —  — 

Deferred tax liabilities, net ¥ (2,578) ¥ (1,400) $ (25,058) 

Deferred tax liabilities on land 
revaluation reserve 
(reflected in long-term liabilities):

Deferred tax liabilities on land 
revaluation reserve ¥ (1,485) ¥ (1,485) $ (14,434)  

On 31st March, 2014, new tax reform laws were enacted in 

Japan, which repealed the Special Reconstruction Corporation Tax 

effective from fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2014. As a 

result, the effective statutory tax rate used to calculate deferred tax 

assets and liabilities changed from 37.75% to 35.38% for 

calculating temporary differences expected to reverse in fiscal 

years beginning on or after 1st April, 2014.

As a result of this change, deferred tax assets after deduction of 

deferred tax liabilities and net unrealized gain on derivative 

instruments decreased by ¥120 million ($1,166 thousand) and ¥3 

million ($29 thousand), respectively, and income taxes – deferred 

increased by ¥117 million ($1,137 thousand) as of and for the year 

ended 31st March, 2014.
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11. Asset Retirement Obligations

(1) Outline of asset retirement obligations

Asset retirement obligations consist of restoration cost related to 

lease contracts of domestic technical centers and other.

(2) Calculation method for asset retirement obligations

Expected useful life is 20 years from contract start date and 

discount rate is 2.179%.

(3)  Changes in the balance of asset retirement obligations 

for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are 

summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Balance at beginning of the year ¥ 63 ¥ 64 $ 612

Increase due to additions of 
office lease agreements 4 — 39

Increase due to change in estimation 
of restoration costs (*) 34 — 330

Decrease due to settlement of 
asset retirement obligations — (2) —

Other adjustments 1 1 10

Balance at end of the year ¥ 102 ¥ 63 $ 991

(*) As a more reliable estimate became possible relating to the plan 

to relocate the Tokyo branch, an estimation of the restoration costs 

was changed.

12. Shareholders’ Equity

The Corporation Law of Japan (the “Law”) provides that an amount 

equal to 10% of the amount to be disbursed as distributions of 

capital surplus (other than the capital reserve) and retained earnings 

(other than the legal reserve) be transferred to the capital reserve and 

the legal reserve, respectively, until the sum of the capital reserve and 

the legal reserve equals 25% of capital stock.  Such distributions can 

be made at any time by resolution of the shareholders or by 

the Board of Directors if certain conditions are met. 

The legal reserve of the Company included in retained earnings 

is nil at 31st March, 2014 and 2013.

Common stock and treasury stock
Movements in common stock and treasury stock for the years 

ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Number of Shares

1st April, 2013 Increase Decrease 31st March, 2014

Common stock (*1) 118,475,312 14,468,371 — 132,943,683

Treasury stock (*2) 9,091,233 1,683,846 7,769,853 3,005,226

Number of Shares

1st April, 2012 Increase Decrease 31st March, 2013

Common stock 118,475,312 — — 118,475,312

Treasury stock 9,090,403 830 — 9,091,233

(*1) The increase in the number of shares in common stock 

(14,468,371 thousand) is due to issuing new shares in the 

international offering.

(*2) The increases in the number of shares in treasury stock consist 

of 1,682,962 shares due to the changes in equity in investments 

in affi liates and 884 shares due to purchases of shares of less 

than one voting unit.  The decreases in the number of shares in 

treasury stock consist of 7,655,853 shares owing to the disposal of 

treasury stock (the international offering) and 104,000 shares due 

to exercising of stock options.

Stock option plans
The Company and two domestic consolidated subsidiaries have 

stock option plans.  The following stock option plans for certain 

executive officers, employees of the Company and certain 

consolidated subsidiaries and the stock option plan of the domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries were approved at annual general 

meetings of the shareholders.

Expenses or gain related to stock options for the years ended 

31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Gain on reversal of stock 
acquisition rights ¥ 374 ¥ 25 $ 3,635

The stock option plans of the Company and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are 

summarized as follows:

Company Date of approval
Number of 

options granted Exercisable period

The Company 18th June, 2008 4,155,000
From 1st July, 2010 up to and 
including 30th June, 2013

The Company 17th June, 2009 2,250,000
From 1st July, 2011 up to and 
including 30th June, 2014

Taiyo Koki 
Co., Ltd.

19th June, 2009 59,900
From 18th July, 2011 up to and 
including 17th July, 2014

B.U.G. MORI 
SEIKI CO., LTD.

13th December, 2007 42,110
From 21st December, 2009 up to 
and including 21st December, 2013

B.U.G. MORI 
SEIKI CO., LTD.

28th March, 2008 18,340
From 1st April, 2010 up to and 
including 1st April, 2014

B.U.G. MORI 
SEIKI CO., LTD.

17th January, 2011 52,670
From 1st July, 2014 up to and 
including 30th June, 2018
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Movements in stock option and exercise price as of and for the year ended 31st March, 2014 are summarized as follows:

Company The Company Taiyo Koki Co., Ltd. B.U.G. MORI SEIKI CO., LTD.

Date of approval
18th June, 

2008
17th June, 

2009
19th June, 

2009
13th December, 

2007
28th March, 

2008
17th January, 

2011

Not vested:

Outstanding as of 1st April, 2013 — — — 10,000 6,000 48,860

Granted — — — — — —

Forfeited — — — 10,000 6,000 48,860

Vested — — — — — —

Outstanding as of 31st March, 2014 — — — — — —

Vested:

Outstanding as of 1st April, 2013 1,023,500 210,000 37,900 — — —

Vested — — — — — —

Exercised — 104,000 9,100 — — —

Forfeited 1,023,500 — 800 — — —

Outstanding as of 31st March, 2014 — 106,000 28,000 — — —

Exercise price (Yen) ¥ 1,502 ¥ 1,061 ¥ 643 ¥ 2,000 ¥ 2,000 ¥ 2,000

Weighted average exercise price (Yen) — 1,680 1,230 — — —

Weighted average fair value per stock 
at the granted date (Yen) 174 219 284 (Note) — (Note) — (Note) —

Exercise price (U.S. dollars) $ 14.60 $ 10.31 $ 6.25 $ 19.44 $ 19.44 $ 19.44

Weighted average exercise price (U.S. dollars) — 16.33 11.96 — — —

Weighted average fair value per stock 
at the granted date (U.S. dollars) 1.69 2.13 2.76 (Note) — (Note) — (Note) —

(Note)  B.U.G. MORI SEIKI CO., LTD. is a private company and, therefore, the fair value of stock options is calculated based on the intrinsic value of 

the stock options.  As the intrinsic value of stock options per share is zero, the disclosure of the weighted average fair value per stock at the 

grant date has been omitted in the above table.

13. Land Revaluation

Effective 31st March, 2002, the Company revalued its land for 

operational usage in accordance with the laws on land revaluation.  

The resulting revaluation difference, net of the applicable tax effect 

on revaluation gain, has been stated as a component of net assets; 

“Land revaluation reserve” amounted to ¥1,759 million ($17,098 

thousand) and ¥1,759 million at 31st March, 2014 and 2013, 

respectively.  The applicable tax effect has been stated as a 

component of long-term liabilities; “Deferred income taxes on land 

revaluation reserve” amounted to ¥1,485 million ($14,434 

thousand) and ¥1,485 million at 31st March, 2014 and 2013, 

respectively.  The fair value of the revalued land was less than its 

carrying value by ¥3,937 million ($38,268 thousand) and ¥3,834 

million at 31st March, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

15. Loss on Devaluation of Inventories

Cost of sales included a loss on devaluation of inventories of 

¥1,649 million ($16,028 thousand) and ¥1,540 million for the years 

ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  Furthermore, loss 

on devaluation of inventories was included in business 

restructuring expenses in the amount of ¥1,502 million ($14,600 

thousand) for the year ended 31st March, 2014.

14. Contingent Liabilities

At 31st March, 2014 and 2013, the Company had the following 

contingent liabilities:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Guarantees of lease payments 
by customers ¥ 3,130 ¥ 2,881 $ 30,424

Guarantees of loans 
of an affiliate 13,229 8,249 128,587

Guarantees of assigned 
accounts receivable 1,762 4,397 17,127

16. Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs included in selling, general and 

administrative expenses for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 

2013 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Research and development costs ¥ 3,363 ¥ 2,734 $ 32,689
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18. Leases

(1)  Finance leases

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries lease plants 

(buildings and structures), offices (buildings and structures) and 

manufacturing facilities (machinery and equipment).

For information of the depreciation method for leased assets, see 

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (10) Leased assets.

(2)  Operating leases

Future minimum lease payments subsequent to 31st March, 2014 

under operating leases are summarized as follows:

Year ending 31st March, Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2015 ¥ 1,500 $ 14,580

2016 and thereafter 10,019 97,385

Total ¥ 11,519 $ 111,965

17. Derivative Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of the derivatives positions outstanding which do not qualify for deferral hedge accounting 

at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Contract value 
(notional 

principal amount)

Estimated 
fair value

Unrealized 
loss

Contract value 
(notional 

principal amount)

Estimated 
fair value

Unrealized 
(loss) gain

Contract value 
(notional 

principal amount)

Estimated 
fair value

Unrealized 
loss

Forward foreign 
exchange contracts

Selling:

U.S. dollars ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 806 ¥ (18) ¥ (18) $ — $ — $ —

Euro 2,023 (99) (99) 1,196 5 5 19,664 (962) (962)

Total ¥ 2,023 ¥ (99) ¥ (99) ¥ 2,002 ¥ (13) ¥ (13) $ 19,664 $ (962) $ (962)

The estimated fair value of the derivatives positions outstanding which qualify for deferral hedge accounting 

at 31st March, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014 2014

Type of 
transactions

Hedged 
items

Contract value 
(notional 

principal amount)

Contract value 
(over 1 year)

Estimated fair 
value

Contract value 
(notional 

principal amount)

Contract value 
(over 1 year)

Estimated fair 
value

Forward foreign 
exchange contracts

Selling:

Euro Accounts receivable (forecasted transaction) ¥ 6,058 ¥ 3,227 ¥ (290) $ 58,884 $ 31,367 $ (2,819)

Total ¥ 6,058 ¥ 3,227 ¥ (290) $ 58,884 $ 31,367 $ (2,819)

There were no derivatives positions outstanding which qualify for deferral hedge accounting at 31st March, 2013.
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19. Financial Instruments

Status of financial instruments

(1) Policy for financial instruments

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”) raise 

necessary capital partly by issuing the new shares and the bonds, 

borrowings from banks and liquidation of receivables for mainly 

operations related to the manufacturing and sales of machine tools 

based on demand for funds from operating activities.  The Group 

manages surplus funds by investing only in short-term deposits 

and others and do not enter into speculative transactions.  

The purpose of derivative transactions is avoiding the risks as 

described hereinafter, and transactions are not carried out for 

speculative purposes.

(2) Types of financial instruments and related risk

Notes and accounts receivable, trade are operating claims and are 

exposed to credit risk of customers.  In addition, as a result of the 

business of the Group, which operates globally, trade receivables 

denominated in foreign currencies are exposed to currency rate 

fluctuation risk, which is hedged using forward exchange contracts 

limited to the necessary amounts, reviewing actual export 

performance.  Most operating claims are settled within three months.

Investments in securities are mainly shares of companies, with 

which the Group has a business relationship, and are exposed to 

market price fluctuation risk.

Accounts payable, trade are operating obligations and mostly are 

payables within three months.  A portion of these is denominated in 

foreign currencies, and is exposed to currency rate fluctuation risk.  

However, the portion is within the range of balances of accounts 

receivable denominated in the same currencies.

Short-term bank loans and bonds are mainly utilized for short-

term operating capital and capital expenditure.  The repayment dates 

of short-term bank loans and the bonds extend up to three years and 

six months from the balance sheet date.  Monthly cash flows are 

reviewed and refundings are repeated within one month so as to 

realize efficient financing.  A portion of short-term bank loans has 

some financial covenants.  Bonds with fixed interest rate are not 

exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk.

Accounts payable, trade and short-term bank loans are exposed 

to liquidity risk.

Derivative transactions are forward foreign exchange contracts 

entered into in order to avoid the risk arising from fluctuations in 

foreign currency exchange rates related to operating claims.

(3) Risk management for financial instruments

(a)  Monitoring of credit risk (the risk that counterparties 

may default)

The Group regularly monitors the credit information related to 

customer operating claims and manages collection dates and 

outstanding balances in accordance with credit control policy.

To minimize the counterparty risk when entering into derivative 

transactions, counterparties are limited to financial institutions 

with high credit ratings.

The maximum amount of credit risk as of the end of the fiscal 

year reflects the amounts recorded in the consolidated balance 

sheets for financial assets that are exposed to credit risk.

(b)  Monitoring of market risks (the risks arising from fluctuations 

in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and others)

The Company hedges risks arising from fluctuations in foreign 

exchange rates, which are relevant to operating claims and are 

analyzed by currency and settlement month, by using forward 

foreign exchange contracts.  The foreign-currency denominated 

operating claims that are expected to be most likely resulting from 

forecasted export transactions are hedged by using forward foreign 

exchange contracts depending on circumstances in the foreign 

currency exchange market.

The fair value of investments in securities and the financial 

position of the issuers are regularly reviewed.

For derivative transactions, the finance department of the 

Company enters into and manages transactions, and the 

responsible director approves them based on internal regulations.  

The consolidated subsidiaries do not enter into derivative 

transactions.

(c)  Monitoring of liquidity risk (the risk of being unable to make 

payment on payment date)

The finance department of the Company prepares and updates 

funding plans in a timely manner based on reports submitted by 

each department to manage liquidity risk.
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(4)  Supplementary explanation of the fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is based on the market price, and when no market price exists, a rationally calculated amount is used.  

These calculations include variable factors, so the resulting amount may fluctuate if different underlying assumptions are applied.  

The amounts of the contracts related to derivative transactions listed in the following section do not in themselves indicate the market risk of 

derivative transactions.

Fair value of financial instruments

The amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, the fair value and the difference at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as 

follows.  Financial instruments for which it is deemed extremely difficult to determine the fair value are not included. (Please refer to Note 2 below.)

Millions of yen Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Carrying value Fair value Difference Carrying value Fair value Difference Carrying value Fair value Difference

Assets

Cash and cash deposits ¥ 18,935 ¥ 18,935 ¥ — ¥ 6,288 ¥ 6,288 ¥ — $ 184,049 $ 184,049 $ —

Notes and accounts receivable, trade 32,989 32,989 — 24,824 24,824 — 320,655 320,655 — 

Investments in securities:

Other securities 11,591 11,591 — 10,102 10,102 — 112,665 112,665 — 

Total assets ¥ 63,515 ¥ 63,515 ¥ — ¥ 41,214 ¥ 41,214 ¥ — $ 617,369 $ 617,369 $ —

Liabilities

Short-term bank loans ¥ 90 ¥ 90 ¥ — ¥ 23,930 ¥ 23,930 ¥ — $ 875 $ 875 $ —

Accounts payable, trade 11,937 11,937 — 9,077 9,077 — 116,028 116,028 — 

Bonds included in long-term debt (*1) 50,000 50,212 212 30,000 30,159 159 486,003 488,064 2,061

Total liabilities ¥ 62,027 ¥ 62,239 ¥ 212 ¥ 63,007 ¥ 63,166 ¥ 159 $ 602,906 $ 604,967 $ 2,061

Derivative transactions

Subject to hedge accounting ¥ (290) ¥ (290) ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — $ (2,819) $ (2,819) $ —

Not subject to hedge accounting (99) (99) — (13) (13) — (962) (962) —

Total derivative transactions (*2) ¥ (389) ¥ (389) ¥ — ¥ (13) ¥ (13) ¥ — $ (3,781) $ (3,781) $ —

(*1)  This includes the current portion of bonds.

(*2)  The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown at net value.

Note 1:  Methods to determine the fair value of financial instruments and other matters related to securities and derivative transactions are 

summarized as follows:

Cash and cash deposits

Since a portion of deposits represents time deposits with maturities within one year, their carrying value approximates fair value.

Notes and accounts receivable, trade

Since most of them are settled in a short time period, their carrying value approximates fair value.

Investments in securities

The fair value of investments in securities is based on quoted exchange market prices for equity securities.

Short-term bank loans

Since most of them are repaid within one month in accordance with financing plans, their carrying value approximates fair value.

Accounts payable, trade

Since most of them are settled in a short time period, their carrying value approximates fair value.

Bonds

The fair value of bonds is determined based on market price.
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20. Business Restructuring Expenses

Taking into account its increased collaboration with DMG MORI SEIKI AG, the Company reconsidered its structuring of production, 

development and sales.  Consequently, the Company subsequently recorded a devaluation of inventories of discontinued products, loss on 

impairments of a patent, software and others, costs related to changing the Company name, costs for reorganization of factories and other 

costs as business restructuring expenses for the year ended 31st March, 2014.

Loss on impairment for the year ended 31st March, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Company Use Classification Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

The Company Production 
technology

Patent ¥ 871 $ 8,466

Management Software 345 3,353

— Other 108 1,050

Total ¥ 1,324 $ 12,869

The Company recognized losses on impairments of patents acquired for production technologies and software used for management control 

since the profi tability and the possibility of usage of these assets become uncertain due to increased collaboration with DMG MORI SEIKI AG.

The Company basically groups assets by operating department.  The assets are grouped by sales offi ce in the sales department and by 

plant in the manufacturing department.  Idle assets not expected to be used in the future are grouped individually.

The recoverable amounts of the patent and the software are measured at zero based on their value in use.

Note 2:  Financial instruments for which it is extremely diffi cult to determine the fair value are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Investments in unconsolidated 
subsidiaries ¥ 137 ¥ 192 $ 1,332

Investments in affiliates 12,335 8,605 119,897

Investments in unlisted stocks 655 613 6,367

Investments in limited liability 
partnership 77 81 748

Total ¥ 13,204 ¥ 9,491 $ 128,344

For the year ended 31st March, 2014, loss on impairment of investment in an unconsolidated subsidiary 

in the amount of ¥35 million ($340 thousand).

Note 3:  Redemption schedule for monetary claims and investments in securities with maturities subsequent to 31st March, 2014 is 

summarized as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

Within 1 year
Over 1 year 

within 5 years
Over 5 years 

within 10 years
Over 10 years Within 1 year

Over 1 year 
within 5 years

Over 5 years 
within 10 years

Over 10 years

Cash and cash deposits ¥ 18,935 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — $ 184,049 $ — $ — $ —

Notes and accounts 
receivable, trade 32,989 — — — 320,655 — — —

Total ¥ 51,924 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — $ 504,704 $ — $ — $ —
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Transactions with related parties
Related party transactions for the year ended 31st March, 2014 are summarized as follows:

Type Name Country Currency

Capital 
stock or 

investment 
in capital

Business 
activity

Equity 
ownership 
(owned) 

percentage
Relation to 

the related party
Nature of 

transaction

Transaction 
amount 

(Millions of yen)

Transaction 
amount 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)

Account 
name

The balance at 
31st March, 

2014 (Millions 
of yen)

The balance at 
31st March, 2014 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)

Affiliate

DMG MORI 
SEIKI AG

Germany EUR 204,926 
thousand

Manufacturing 
and sales of 
machine tools

24.3%
(9.6%)

Capital and 
business alliance
Secondment of 
officers

Issuance of shares  (*1) ¥ 2,945 $ 28,626 — — —

Contribution in kind  (*2) 7,405 71,977 — — —

Allotment of shares  (*3) 7,296 70,918 — — —

DMG MORI 
SEIKI Europe 
AG

Switzerland CHF 76,000 
thousands

Sales and 
service of 
machine tools

40.0% Sale of the 
Company’s 
products
Secondment of 
officers

Sales of 
machine tools (*4)

17,873 173,727 Accounts 
receivable

¥ 4,832 $ 46,967

MG Finance 
GmbH

Germany EUR 15,000 
thousand

Finance and 
leasing 

42.6% Sale of the 
Company’s 
products

Loan guarantees  (*5) 13,229 128,587 — — —

(*1)  DMG MORI SEIKI AG acquired 2,134,224 shares newly issued by the Company.

(*2)  The Company executed a contribution in kind using shares of Magnescale Co., Ltd. (“Magnescale”) and DMG Mori Seiki Manufacturing 

USA, Inc. (“DMSM”) and in exchange obtained respective shares of DMG MORI SEIKI AG.

(*3)  The Company acquired 3,835,244 shares newly issued by DMG MORI SEIKI AG.

(*4)  The sales terms are determined on based on an arms-length transaction.

(*5)  This represents guarantees of bank loans of MG Finance GmbH.

Related party transactions for the year ended 31st March, 2013 are summarized as follows:

Type Name Country Currency

Capital stock or 
investment in 

capital
Business 
activity

Equity ownership 
percentage

Relation to 
the related party

Nature of 
transaction

Transaction 
amount 

(Millions of yen)

Affiliate MG Finance 
GmbH

Germany EUR 15,000 thousand Finance and leasing 42.6% Sale of the Company’s 
products

Loan guarantees (*) ¥ 8,249

(*) This represents guarantees of bank loans of MG Finance GmbH.

Note on significant affiliates accounted for using the equity method
The following is a summary of the financial statements of DMG MORI SEIKI AG and DMG MORI SEIKI Europe AG at 31st December, 2013 and 

2012 and the years then ended, in which the Company recorded equity earnings.

21. Related Party Transaction

DMG MORI SEIKI AG

Millions of Euro

As of 31st December

2013 2012

Total current assets € 1,224 € 1,056

Total long-term assets 786 559

Total current liabilities 765 763

Total long-term liabilities 81 64

Total net assets 1,164 788

Millions of Euro

The year ended 31st 
December, 2013

The year ended 31st 
December, 2012

Net sales € 2,054 € 2,037

Income before income taxes 135 120

Net income 93 82

DMG MORI SEIKI Europe AG

Millions of Euro

As of 31st December

2013 2012

Total current assets € 328 € —

Total long-term assets 52 —

Total current liabilities 252 —

Total long-term liabilities 4 —

Total net assets 124 —

Millions of Euro

The year ended 31st 
December, 2013

The year ended 31st 
December, 2012

Net sales € 663 € —

Income before income taxes 26 —

Net income 21 —

DMG MORI SEIKI Europe AG is accounted for as a signifi cant 

affi liate due to its material effect on the consolidated fi nancial 

statements for the year ended 31st March, 2014.
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22. Other Comprehensive Income

The following table presents reclassification adjustments and tax effects of other comprehensive income for the years ended 31st March, 2014 

and 2013.

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Net unrealized holding gain on securities:

Amount arising during the year ¥ 1,488 ¥ 309 $ 14,463 

Reclassification adjustments for gain realized in statements of income  —  (7)  — 

Amount before the adjustment of tax effect  1,488  302  14,463 

Tax effect  (566)  176  (5,501) 

Net unrealized holding gain on securities  922  478  8,962 

Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments: 

Amount arising during the year  (290)  —  (2,819) 

Amount before the adjustment of tax effect  (290)  —  (2,819) 

Tax effect  48  —  467 

Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments  (242)  —  (2,352) 

Translation adjustments:

Amount arising during the year  2,382  2,304  23,153 

Reclassification adjustments for loss realized in statement of income  2  —  19 

Translation adjustments  2,384  2,304  23,172 

Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates accounted for by the equity method:

Amount arising during the year  10,616  3,689  103,188 

Reclassification adjustments for (loss) gain realized in statement of income  (251)  31  (2,440) 

Share of other comprehensive income of affiliates accounted for by the equity method  10,365  3,720  100,748 

Other comprehensive income, net ¥ 13,429 ¥ 6,502 $ 130,530 

23. Supplemental Information on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(1) Non cash transaction

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recorded leased 

assets and lease obligations related to new finance lease 

transactions in the amounts of ¥105 million ($1,021 thousand) and 

¥261 million for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013, 

respectively.

The Company executed a contribution in kind using shares of 

Magnescale and DMSM and in exchange obtained respective 

shares in DMG MORI SEIKI AG amounted to ¥7,405 million 

($71,977 thousand) for the year ended 31st March, 2014.

(2) Business transfer

Mori Seiki Canada, Ltd. (“MS Canada”), a sub-subsidiary of the 

Company executed a contribution in kind of a part of its assets and 

liabilities.  The Company recorded ¥30 million ($292 thousand) as 

expenditures for business divestiture in the statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 31st March, 2014.  In addition, current assets 

decreased by ¥250 million ($2,430 thousand) resulting from this 

business transfer.

MORI SEIKI G.M.B.H., a consolidated subsidiary of the 

Company, which managed sales operations in Germany, transferred 

a portion of its business to DMG MORI SEIKI Deutschland GmbH in 

the year ended 31st March, 2013.  The Company recorded ¥1,783 

million as proceeds from business transfer in the statement of cash 

flows for the year ended 31st March, 2013.  In addition, inventories 

decreased by ¥1,444 million resulting from this business transfer.

(3) Assets and liabilities of newly acquired subsidiary

TYLER MACHINE TOOL Co., Inc. (“TYLER”) became a newly 

consolidated subsidiary of the Company as a result of an 

acquisition of shares in the year ended 31st March, 2014.  Details 

of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition 

date, the acquisition cost of shares of TYLER and payments for 

acquisition, net are summarized in the following table:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Current assets ¥ 884 $ 8,593 

Non-current assets  809  7,863 

Goodwill  560  5,443 

Current liabilities  (695)  (6,755) 

Non-current liabilities  (311)  (3,023) 

Acquisition cost of TYLER  1,247  12,121 

Subsequent milestone payment  (145)  (1,409) 

Cash and cash equivalents of TYLER  (115)  (1,118) 

Acquisition of shares of subsidiaries 
resulting in change in scope of consolidation ¥ 987 $ 9,594 
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24. Amounts per Share

Amounts per share at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 and for the years 

then ended are summarized as follows:

Yen U.S. dollars

2014 2013 2014

Amounts per share:

Net assets ¥ 1,164.59 ¥ 938.53 $ 11.32 

Net income:

Basic  85.73  47.27  0.83 

Diluted  85.69  47.07  0.83 

Cash dividends  22.00  20.00  0.21 

Net assets per share are computed based on the net assets 

available for distribution to the shareholders and the number of 

shares of common stock outstanding at the year end.  Basic income 

per share is computed based on the net income attributable to 

shareholders of common stock and the weighted-average number 

of shares of common stock outstanding during each year, and 

diluted net income per share is computed based on the net income 

attributable to shareholders of common stock and the weighted-

average number of shares of common stock outstanding during 

each year after giving effect to the dilutive potential of shares of 

common stock to be issued upon the exercise of stock options.

Cash dividends per share represent the cash dividends 

proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company as applicable 

to the respective fiscal years.

An outline of dilutive shares not included in the calculation of 

“Net income per share (diluted)” for the years ended 31st March, 

2014 and 2013 because they do not have dilutive effect is as follows:

Stock acquisition rights issued by the Company:

Type: None at 31st March, 2014 and 2 types at 31st March, 2013

 Number of stock acquisition rights issued by the Company as 

part of a stock option plans: None and 12,335 units at 31st 

March, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Stock acquisition rights issued by a domestic consolidated subsidiary:

Type: 1 type

 Number of stock acquisition rights issued by a domestic 

consolidated subsidiary as a part of a stock option plan: 280 

units and 379 units at 31st March, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

25. Segment Information

(1) Outline of the reportable segments

The reportable segments of the consolidated group are components for which discrete financial information is available and whose operating 

results are regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors and corporate officers to make decisions about resource allocation and to assess 

business performance. 

The Group’s business is mainly manufacturing and sales of machine tools.  The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are responsible for 

Japan and each independent local entity is responsible for an overseas area.  The Group develops their own comprehensive business strategies 

and operates their businesses.

Accordingly, the Group’s reportable segments consist of Japan, the Americas, Europe and China and Asia based on the production and 

selling system.

(2)  Calculation method of net sales, income or loss, assets and other items by each reportable segment

Method of accounting treatments for the reportable segments is almost the same as those described in Note 2 Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies.  The amount of segment income (loss) is based on operating income (loss).  Inter-segment sales and transfers between 

segments are based on market prices.

Change in depreciation method

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries had previously calculated depreciation using the declining-balance method for property, 

plant and equipment, except for certain buildings. Effective the year ended 31st March, 2014, the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries, 

except for one domestic subsidiary, have changed their depreciation method of property, plant and equipment to the straight-line method because 

the Company determined that the straight-line method of depreciation would better present the usage pattern of economic benefits based on the 

actual operation of equipment because the production equipment will be operated evenly through globalization of production and consolidation of 

sales locations and the establishment of a collaborative production system with DMG MORI SEIKI AG.  As a result of this change, compared with 

the previous method, segment income for Japan increased by ¥886 million ($8,612 thousand) for the year ended 31st March, 2014.
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(3) Information on net sales, income or loss, assets and other items by reportable segment

Reportable segment information for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Net sales

Sales to third parties ¥ 53,166 ¥ 53,893 ¥ 32,101 ¥ 21,569 ¥ 160,729 

Inter-segment sales and transfers  76,087  1,581  1,682  1,350  80,700 

Total ¥ 129,253 ¥ 55,474 ¥ 33,783 ¥ 22,919 ¥ 241,429 

Segment income (loss) ¥ 8,633 ¥ 1,133 ¥ (25) ¥ (435) ¥ 9,306 

Segment assets ¥ 136,920 ¥ 32,314 ¥ 70,249 ¥ 14,228 ¥ 253,711 

Other items:

Depreciation and amortization ¥ 4,144 ¥ 891 ¥ 441 ¥ 300 ¥ 5,776 

Amortization of goodwill ¥ 223 ¥ 56 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 279 

Investments in affiliates accounted for 
by the equity method ¥ 348 ¥ 696 ¥ 49,815 ¥ 1,805 ¥ 52,664 

Increase in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets ¥ 5,850 ¥ 378 ¥ 239 ¥ 2,444 ¥ 8,911 

Millions of yen

2013

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Net sales

Sales to third parties ¥ 50,733 ¥ 47,636 ¥ 26,898 ¥ 23,292 ¥ 148,559 

Inter-segment sales and transfers  73,626  1,358  1,772  1,374  78,130 

Total ¥ 124,359 ¥ 48,994 ¥ 28,670 ¥ 24,666 ¥ 226,689 

Segment income (loss) ¥ 4,717 ¥ (995) ¥ (62) ¥ (2) ¥ 3,658 

Segment assets ¥ 121,529 ¥ 25,394 ¥ 45,712 ¥ 10,997 ¥ 203,632 

Other items:

Depreciation and amortization ¥ 5,155 ¥ 1,069 ¥ 333 ¥ 138 ¥ 6,695 

Amortization of goodwill ¥ 369 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 369 

Investments in affiliates accounted for 
by the equity method ¥ 367 ¥ 19 ¥ 27,805 ¥ 1,674 ¥ 29,865 

Increase in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets ¥ 1,908 ¥ 2,212 ¥ 810 ¥ 2,330 ¥ 7,260 

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Net sales

Sales to third parties $ 516,777 $ 523,843 $ 312,024 $ 209,652 $ 1,562,296 

Inter-segment sales and transfers  739,570  15,368  16,349  13,122  784,409 

Total $ 1,256,347 $ 539,211 $ 328,373 $ 222,774 $ 2,346,705 

Segment income (loss) $ 83,913 $ 11,013 $ (243) $ (4,228) $ 90,455 

Segment assets $ 1,330,871 $ 314,094 $ 682,825 $ 138,297 $ 2,466,087 

Other items:

Depreciation and amortization $ 40,280 $ 8,661 $ 4,286 $ 2,916 $ 56,143 

Amortization of goodwill $ 2,168 $ 544 $ — $ — $ 2,712 

Investments in affiliates accounted for 
by the equity method $ 3,383 $ 6,765 $ 484,205 $ 17,544 $ 511,897 

Increase in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets $ 56,862 $ 3,674 $ 2,323 $ 23,756 $ 86,615 

(4) Reconciliation of the segment income and operating income in the consolidated statements of income

A reconciliation of segment income and operating income in the consolidated statements of income is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Operating income 2014 2013 2014

Segment income ¥ 9,306 ¥ 3,658 $ 90,455 

Elimination of unrealized gain  51  476  496 

Operating income in the consolidated 
statements of income ¥ 9,357 ¥ 4,134 $ 90,951 
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(5) Reconciliation of the segment assets and the total assets in the consolidated balance sheets

A reconciliation of the segment assets and the total assets in the consolidated balance sheets is summarized as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Assets 2014 2013 2014

Segment assets ¥ 253,711 ¥ 203,632 $ 2,466,087 

Unallocated assets  12,480  10,425  121,306 

Adjustment of unrealized gain  (1,380)  (1,440)  (13,414) 

Inter-segment transactions  (23,140)  (25,963)  (224,922) 

Assets in the consolidated balance sheets ¥ 241,671 ¥ 186,654 $ 2,349,057 

Related information
(1) Sales by product and service

As the sale of only one type of product and service amounted to more than 90% of net consolidated sales, the disclosure of segment 

information by product and service for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 has been omitted.

(2) Regional information

(a) Net sales for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2014

Japan USA The Americas other than USA Europe China and Asia Total

¥ 53,166 ¥ 49,230 ¥ 4,663 ¥ 32,101 ¥ 21,569 ¥ 160,729

Millions of yen

2013

Japan USA The Americas other than USA Europe China and Asia Total

¥ 50,733 ¥ 42,910 ¥ 4,726 ¥ 26,898 ¥ 23,292 ¥ 148,559

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014

Japan USA The Americas other than USA Europe China and Asia Total

$ 516,777 $ 478,519 $ 45,324 $ 312,024 $ 209,652 $ 1,562,296

(Note) Net sales are classified by countries or region based on locations of customers.

(b) Property, plant and equipment as of 31st March, 2014 and 2013 are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

¥ 48,248 ¥ 9,322 ¥ 6,560 ¥ 4,880 ¥ 69,010

Millions of yen

2013

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

¥ 46,493 ¥ 7,602 ¥ 6,012 ¥ 2,681 ¥ 62,788

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

$ 468,974 $ 90,610 $ 63,764 $ 47,434 $ 670,782
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(c) Major customer

Major customers for the year ended 31st March, 2014 are as follows:

Name of customer
Net sales 

(Millions of yen)
Net sales 

(Thousands of U.S. dollars) Reportable segment

Ellison Technologies, Inc. ¥ 36,668 $ 356,415 The Americas

DMG MORI SEIKI Europe AG 17,873 173,727 Europe

Major customers for the year ended 31st March, 2013 are as follows:

Name of customer
Net sales 

(Millions of yen) Reportable segment

Ellison Technologies, Inc. ¥ 29,861 The Americas

Amortization of goodwill and unamortized balance by reportable segment
Information on amortization and unamortized balance of goodwill by reportable segment for the years ended and at 31st March, 2014 and 

2013 is as follows:

Millions of yen

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Amortization for the year ¥ 223 ¥ 56 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 279

Balance at the year end 186 518 — — 704

Millions of yen

2013

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Amortization for the year ¥ 369 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 369

Balance at the year end 667 — — — 667

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Amortization for the year $ 2,168 $ 544 $ — $ — $ 2,712

Balance at the year end 1,808 5,035 — — 6,843
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Loss on impairment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment by reportable segment
Information on loss on impairment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment by reportable segment for the years ended 31st March, 

2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Millions of yen

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Loss on impairment of goodwill 
and property, plant and equipment ¥ 1,324 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 1,324

Millions of yen

2013

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Loss on impairment of goodwill 
and property, plant and equipment ¥ 108 ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 108

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2014

Japan The Americas Europe China and Asia Total

Loss on impairment of goodwill 
and property, plant and equipment $ 12,869 $ — $ — $ — $ 12,869

Loss on impairment was included in business restructuring expenses for the year ended 31st March, 2014.

26. Business Combinations

Transaction under common control

(1) Overview of the transaction

(a) Names and nature of the business of the companies

Name Nature of the business

Magnescale Production and sales of measurement 
equipment

DMSM Production of the Company’s products

(b) Date of business combination

8th August, 2013

(c) Legal form of business combination

Contribution in kind of 44.12% of shares of Magnescale, 

a subsidiary of the Company and 19% of shares of DMSM, 

a sub-subsidiary of the Company

(d) Overview of other matters relating to the transaction

Based on the Cooperation Agreement signed by DMG MORI SEIKI 

AG and the Company, the Company acquired 3,247,162 newly 

issued shares in DMG MORI SEIKI AG, and in return, the Company 

contributed 44.12% of the shares of Magnescale, a subsidiary of 

the Company and 19% of the shares of DMSM, a sub-subsidiary of 

the Company on 8th August, 2013. With DMG MORI SEIKI AG 

holding an interest in two subsidiaries, Magnescale can pursue 

further business developments by collaborating on technical 

advances and approaching a broader range of customers, and 

DMSM can pursue a smooth start-up of production activities 

utilizing the production know-how of DMG MORI SEIKI AG to take 

advantage of favorable conditions in the North American market.

(2) Overview of accounting treatment

This transaction was accounted for as a transaction under common 

control under “Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 

(ASBJ Statement No.21, 26th December, 2008) and “Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting 

Standard for Business Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ 

Guidance No.10, 26th December, 2008).

Amount of gain on change in equity in investments in 

subsidiaries recorded under this accounting treatment

Gain on change in equity in investments in subsidiaries: ¥3,433 

million ($33,369 thousand)
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Acquisition of shares of TYLER Machine Tool Co., Inc.

(1)  Overview of acquisition

(a) Name and nature of the business of the acquired company

Name Nature of the business

TYLER Sales of the Company’s products

(b) Purpose of the acquisition

In order to build closer relationships with customers by 

strengthening cooperation between manufacturing and distribution

(c) Date of acquisition

1st April, 2013

(d) Legal form of acquisition

Acquisition of shares for cash consideration

(e) Name of the company after acquisition

TYLER MACHINE TOOL Co., Inc.

(f) Ratio on voting rights acquired

100%

(2)  Period of operating result of acquired company included 

in the consolidated financial statements

From 1st April, 2013 to 31st March, 2014

(3)  Acquisition cost

¥1,247 million ($12,121 thousand)

(4)  Value of goodwill recognized and reason for recognition

(a) Value of goodwill recognized

¥560 million ($5,443 thousand)

(b) Reason for recognition

Goodwill is recognized based on excess earning power expected in 

the future.

(c) Amortization method and period

Straight-line method over 10 years

(5)  Details of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 

the acquisition date

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Current assets ¥ 884 $ 8,593 

Non-current assets  809  7,863 

Total assets ¥ 1,693 $ 16,456 

Current liabilities ¥ 695 $ 6,755 

Non-current liabilities  311  3,023 

Total liabilities ¥ 1,006 $ 9,778 

(6)  Nature of the conditional acquisition cost prescribed in 

the agreement and accounting treatment for such 

payment in the future

The conditional acquisition cost prescribed in the acquisition 

agreement involves making additional milestone payments if the 

operating results of the acquired company exceed a certain level.  

In such case additional payments will be made.  The acquisition 

cost will be revised as if the payments had been made on the 

acquisition date, and the amount of goodwill and amortization 

thereof also will be revised accordingly.  The acquisition cost 

described in (3) above includes ¥145 million ($1,409 thousand) 

as part of such milestone payments determined.

(7)  Amounts allocated to intangible assets and major 

components other than goodwill, and the respective 

weighted average amortization periods

Weighted average 
amortization period

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Patent 5 years ¥ 184 $ 1,788 

Customer information 
management 10 years  612  5,949 

Total intangible assets ¥ 796 $ 7,737 
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Contribution in kind of assets and liabilities of 
a subsidiary

(1)  Overview of contribution in kind

(a) Overview of the transferee

Name: DMG MORI SEIKI CANADA INC.

Location: Canada

Major shareholders (ownership %): DMG Holding AG (51%)
Mori Seiki Canada, Ltd. (49%)

Relationship with the Company: Equity-method affiliate

(b) Nature and name of the transferred business

Name Nature of the business

A part of assets and liabilities of MS Canada Sales of the Company’s products

(c) Purpose of the business divestiture

MS Canada, a sub-subsidiary of the Company executed a 

contribution in kind of part of its assets and liabilities in return for 

49% of the total shares issued by DMG MORI SEIKI CANADA INC. 

on 31st March, 2014.  With this contribution in kind, the Company 

will become able to integrate sales and support services with DMG 

MORI SEIKI AG in Canada, which will contribute to increasing in 

sales of the Company’s products.

(d) Date of business divestiture

31st March, 2014

(e) Overview of other transactions including its legal form

MS Canada executed the contribution in kind of part of its assets 

and liabilities in return for the shares issued of DMG MORI SEIKI 

CANADA INC.

(2)  Overview of accounting treatment

This transaction was accounted for as a transaction under common 

control under “Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 

(ASBJ Statement No.21, 26th December, 2008) and “Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting 

Standard for Business Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ 

Guidance No.10, 26th December, 2008).

(a)  Amount of goodwill and gain on change in equity in investments 

in subsidiaries recorded by this accounting treatment

Goodwill(*): ¥549 million ($5,336 thousand)

Gain on change in equity in investments in subsidiaries: 

¥560 million ($5,443 thousand)

(*) This amount is included in investments in equity-method 

affiliates.

(b)  Book value of assets and liabilities pertaining to the 

transferred business

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Current assets ¥ 249 $ 2,420 

Non-current assets  1  10 

Total assets ¥ 250 $ 2,430 

Current liabilities ¥ 220 $ 2,138 

Total liabilities ¥ 220 $ 2,138 

(3)  Reporting segment in which the transferred business 

was included

The Americas

(4)  Estimated amounts of net sales and operating income of 

the subsidiary included in the consolidated statement of 

income for the year ended 31st March, 2014

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Net sales ¥ 1,154 $ 11,217 

Operating income  57  554 
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27. Subsequent Events

Appropriation of retained earnings

The following distribution of retained earnings of the Company, 

which has not been reflected in the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2014, was 

approved at the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the 

Company held on 20th June, 2014.

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

Year-end cash dividends of 
¥12.00 ($0.12) per share ¥ 1,594 $ 15,494
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